
 

 

 

Minutes of 

THE FACULTY SENATE 

OF 

ARKANSAS TECH UNIVERSITY 

 

The Faculty Senate met Wednesday, December 7, 2016, at 1:00 p.m. in Rothwell 456.   

The following members were present: 

  

Dr. Molly Brant Dr. Jeremy Schwehm 

Dr. Jon Clements Dr. Monty Smith 

Dr. Melissa Darnell Dr. V. Carole Smith 

Dr. Marcel Finan Dr. James Stobaugh 

Dr. Debra Hunter Dr. Bruce Tedford 

Dr. Sean Huss Dr. Jack Tucci 

Dr. Shelia Jackson Dr. Susan Underwood 

Dr. Chris Kellner Dr. James Walton 

Dr. Johnette Moody Dr. Dana Ward 

Dr. Jason Patton  

 

Dr. Michael Rogers and Mr. Ken Futterer were absent. Dr. Mohamed Abdelrahman,  

Dr. Neal Barlow, Dr. Pat Buford, and Mr. Wesley Duke were visitors. 

   

CALL TO ORDER 

 

APPROVAL OF 

MINUTES 

President Huss called the meeting to order, and asked for a motion in regard to the minutes 

of November 8, 2016. 

 

Motion by Dr. Underwood, seconded by Dr. Jackson, to approve the minutes as distributed. 

 

Dr. Kellner mentioned a comment made by Ms. Brooke Southard during her presentation in 

November on the health insurance changes and the suggested tier structure.  He stated she 

had mentioned the committee reviewing the changes had not wanted to subsidize the 

insurance amount paid by the employee for the higher paid employees.  He stated this is an 

important comment and should be included in the minutes.  Consensus was to approve the 

minutes as amended. 

 

Motion carried. 

 

VPAA UPDATE President Huss invited Dr. Mohamed Abdelrahman, Vice President for Academic Affairs, to 

address the Senate.  Dr. Abdelrahman reported on a pilot initiative allowing freshman 

students to retain their scholarships for the spring semester if they earn at least a 2.0 GPA 

with 12 hours for the fall. The student will need to earn a cumulative GPA of 3.0 by the end 

of the spring semester in order to retain the scholarship for the next academic year.  He 

stated he would report on the impact of this initiative at a later date.  Dr. Kellner questioned 

whether the students will have any other additional requirement, and Dr. Abdelrahman 

responded that these students will be strongly encouraged to avail themselves of services 

offered by the tutoring center. 

 

Dr. Abdelrahman stated he and his staff had met with representatives of the Senate 

concerning the final exam schedules and noted the validity of the concerns of the Senate. For 

fall and spring end of term, he stated more meetings would need to be held and other options 

considered.  For summer, however, he asked that the Senate consider carefully in their later 

discussion of this agenda item the option of adding five minutes to the face to face class 

periods, allowing summer session II to end on Wednesday.  

 

 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 2 

 

 

Dr. Abdelrahman reported the Faculty Handbook “still needs a lot of work” and emphasized 

the need for language that is “clean and has no holes.” As part of the current draft,  

President Huss noted increased participation by the faculty in the evaluation and promotion 

and tenure processes; Dr. Abdelrahman stated parts of the draft appear “murky” and needed 

work. 

 

Dr. Abdelrahman asked the Senate to consider forming a committee to work with the 

administration on ideas for student success.  He advocated close faculty involvement in any 

student success initiatives and reminded the Senators that revenue growth in the future may 

well depend on successful retention efforts. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

LAPTOPS IN 

ENGINEERING 

 

 

President Huss invited Dr. Neal Barlow, Dean, College of Engineering and Applied 

Sciences, to speak.  Dr. Barlow reported that Tech’s engineering programs are re-accredited 

by ABET every six years and that he himself is an ABET commissioner.  During the last 

accreditation visit, the mechanical engineering program was found to be deficient in several 

of the criteria areas for re-accreditation.  One area concerned students having the necessary 

computers to run the programs and software needed for success in the program.  Dr. Barlow 

noted many universities across the country now require students entering the engineering 

program to buy a laptop built to certain specifications relating to processor, speed, RAM, 

etc. Laptops with these specifications will cost from approximately $800 up to $2,500.  If the 

engineering program requires the laptop, then federal financial aid will cover the cost up to 

$1,500.  He stated he is asking the Senate to support the addition of this program 

requirement. 

 

When asked if a student can use a Mac, Dr. Barlow responded that most of the software is 

written for PCs.  When a concern was expressed as to when the student buys the software, 

Dr. Barlow noted the suite of software programs is not purchased until the sophomore year; 

the freshman student must only purchase one software package.  He stated the Office of 

Information Systems had assured him that the laptops would be able to last for four years, 

and he stated they would not require students to purchase software updates after their initial 

package purchases.  Dr. Barlow noted a few laptops would be available for checkout.   

 

Motion by Dr. Tucci, seconded by Dr. Kellner, to support the recommendation that the 

catalog be changed to include a computer requirement for engineering students.  Motion 

carried. 

 

It was noted the catalog will only include the requirement and refer the student to the 

engineering website for machine specifications. 

 

PHISHING/FRAUD 

POLICY 

 

President Huss stated the policy draft on phishing and fraud (Attachment A) had been edited, 

striking the language concerning any disciplinary action.  Another version of the policy will 

be ready by February’s meeting, if needed.  No other edits were suggested. 

 

EXTERNAL WORK 

POLICY 

 

Dr. Patton reported a productive meeting with Mr. Thomas Pennington and stated  

Mr. Pennington was very willing to make changes and incorporate suggestions to the 

external work policy draft.  Dr. Patton stated it would most likely be early next semester 

before Mr. Pennington brings a revised draft for consideration. 

 

FACULTY 

EXCELLENCE 

AWARD POLICY 

President Huss stated that Academic Affairs had asked the Senate to consider whether a 

change in eligibility for the faculty excellence awards should be considered.  Currently, only 

tenured, senior faculty are eligible for nomination for the awards, which carry a $2,000 

stipend.  Discussion centered on the awards serving as recognition for faculty who have 

made an investment to the university, as a means to keep tenured faculty engaged, and as a 

recognition of “our best.”  Consensus was to make no changes to the eligibility 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 3 

 

requirements. 

 

FACULTY LINE UP 

AT GRADUATION 

President Huss asked Ms. Chronister to address the issue of the line up of faculty for 

graduation (Attachment B).  She reported that students will be allowed for the first time at 

the December commencement ceremonies to line up with their peers in their academic 

departments.  She stated Academic Affairs wanted to give the faculty the opportunity to also 

change their line up if desired, although a change would not take place until the May 

ceremonies.  Discussion centered on other line up alternatives and the longstanding 

traditional line up of the university based on rank and years of service in rank. 

 

Motion by Dr. Walton, seconded by Dr. Tedford, to make no changes to the faculty line up 

at graduation at this time.  Motion carried. 

 

CURRICULUM 

PROCESS 

President Huss referred to an email concerning the curriculum process sent by Ms. Tammy 

Weaver, Registrar, (Attachment C) and noted that the Curriculum Committee is seen as “not 

having a real active service.”  He also noted a dependency upon the Registrar to vet the 

proposals.  Several Senators who had also served on the Curriculum Committee reported a 

lack of contextual knowledge needed to assess each proposal and stated time was also an 

issue when dealing with several hundred pages of proposals. Concern was also expressed as 

to whether the Director of Assessment was able to review proposals before they started 

through the curriculum process. 

 

Discussion then centered on whether this committee’s structure should be reconsidered, with 

suggestions of subdividing the committee to make review more manageable and having 

departmental committees review proposals first. President Huss noted Ms. Weaver had 

recommended training and workshops for committee members. He asked that the members 

contemplate this issue. 

 

CHANGING 

STUDENT 

EVALUATION OF 

FACULTY 

QUESTIONS 

President Huss stated the issue of changing questions on the student evaluation brings up the 

need to establish steering committees to work on issues like this.  These ad hoc committees 

could have both Senate representatives but also members from the general faculty who have 

expertise or interests in certain areas.  Adjunct faculty and staff could also become involved 

when appropriate. Members could be asked to participate or could be recruited, depending 

on the particular issue. Recommendations would then be made back to the Senate for 

consideration. The members of the Senate indicated an interest in this general idea. 

 

Specifically for this change to evaluation questions (Attachment D), President Huss stated 

the steering committee could consist of faculty who have designed surveys and others with 

an interest in this process.  He reported that if changes to the student evaluation questions 

could be determined by March 31, 2017, then they could be incorporated in the spring 

student evaluation cycle.  The new evaluation software also allows for questions specified by 

departments and colleges.  He will also request the steering committee to investigate what 

questions other universities in the State ask. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

FACULTY 

WELFARE 

COMMITTEE 

(referred to as Faculty 

Grievance Committee) 

 

 

Dr. Walton reported the document distributed (Attachment E) represents final edits for the 

Faculty Grievance Committee and includes those suggested by Ms. Jennifer Fleming, 

Affirmative Action Officer.  The document is in response to the administration wanting 

timelines for grievances established and included in the Faculty Handbook.  For instance, 

once a complaint is received by the committee, the committee has five days to determine 

whether to consider the complaint or not.  If a complaint is considered, a decision must be 

made within 60 days. 

 

Dr. Kellner advocated the committee’s recommendation accompanying that of the university 

President to the Board of Trustees.  Concern was expressed as to whether that change would 

be acceptable to the administration.  Dr. Walton, who is serving as the current chair of the 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 4 

 

Faculty Grievance Committee, noted the committee’s function is to ensure that established 

procedures are followed and they are being applied consistently for each faculty member. 

 

Motion by Dr. Kellner, seconded by Dr. Tedford, to amend Item B of Attachment E to 

include a provision that a recommendation of the Faculty Grievance Committee accompany 

the President’s recommendation to the Board of Trustees. 

 

Dr. Tucci stated this recommendation does not allow the President a chance to change 

his/her recommendation prior to the committee’s recommendation going to the Board.   

Dr. Hunter agreed and stated this is an operational responsibility of the President.  After 

further discussion, Dr. Kellner agreed to table his motion.  

 

Motion by Dr. Kellner, seconded by Dr. Walton, to table the motion to amend Item B.  

Motion carried. 

 

President Huss stated he would speak with the President and Vice President for Academic 

Affairs concerning this issue. 

 

REPORT ON 

PROMOTION AND 

TENURE REVIEW 

PROCESS 

President Huss stated the Senate’s sub-committee reviewing the promotion and tenure draft 

had met with Dr. Jeff Woods.  He and Dr. Woods met with Dr. Abdelrahman yesterday and 

noted two or three major issues with the draft language. One concerns moving from the old 

criteria to the new criteria and leaving certain faculty in a “void,” particularly those 

classified as visiting.  He also reported the new guidelines require a faculty member on 

tenure track to be ABD or have a terminal degree.  This would also leave some current 

tenured faculty unable to apply for promotion under the new guidelines.  The sub-committee 

will be working on the language over the next few months. 

 

EVALUATION OF 

ADMINISTRATORS 

President Huss stated an evaluation of Dr. Abdelrahman and Dr. Bowen will occur but he is 

not yet sure what the evaluation will entail. He noted the President’s concern that individuals 

participating in the evaluations may not actually have contact with her or the Vice President 

on a regular basis. President Huss stated he would continue to work on this issue. 

 

FINAL EXAM AND 

GRADE SCHEDULE 

Dr. Hunter reported she, Dr. Rogers, and Dr. Brant had met with Academic Affairs 

concerning the final exam and grade schedule (Attachment F).  First, she advocated 

supporting the idea of adding five minutes to the summer class periods in order to end 

summer session II on the Wednesday before graduation.  Senior grades would still be due by 

midnight that night; other grades by Friday at 5 p.m.  This change could be implemented for 

summer, 2017, as a pilot. 

 

Motion by Dr. Tucci, seconded by Dr. Stobaugh, to add five minutes to the summer session 

face to face classes.  Motion carried. 

 

Dr. Hunter stated discussions were also held concerning the end of term schedule for the fall 

and spring semesters and the need for additional grading time after finals are complete. She 

and Dr. Rogers had attended an SGA meeting, and the students were adamant about keeping 

Reading Day.  She said the SGA would like to have finals on Monday through Friday, with 

finals on Monday and Tuesday, Reading Day on Wednesday, and then finals on Thursday 

and Friday. She noted issues with starting earlier in the fall semester, particularly relating to 

Student Services’ functions.  One idea is to add five minutes to the three-hour lecture 

sections on MWF (leave Tuesday/Thursday classes as are).  Many of the Senators were not 

in favor of this solution. Other ideas discussed included Saturday finals, expanding each day 

of final exams to include more exams, taking away Reading Day, eliminating the fall break 

or one day of the fall beak, and taking away the Wednesday before Thanksgiving.  

Dr. Hunter stated any changes for the fall and spring semesters would not take place until the 

2018-19 academic year; she asked those with ideas to email her. 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 5 

 

 

SECURITY 

CAMERAS 

Dr. Kellner referenced the distributed policy on security cameras (Attachment G) and asked 

each Senator to review and send him any comments.  If the policy is adopted, any cameras in  

 

locations no longer allowed would have to come down.  President Huss stated the policy 

would be considered for action at the February meeting. 

 

SHARED 

GOVERNANCE 

President Huss reported all faculty should have received an email about the upcoming 

professional development day (i.e., January 11, 2017).  This meeting will focus on shared 

governance with a speaker and a series of workshops.  An announcement with more specific 

information will go out later this week or next week and he encouraged participation. 

 

OPEN FORUM President Huss asked Ms. Chronister to report on the eportfolio effort.  She stated the ad hoc 

committee had reviewed one software package and would possibly review one or two more.  

Ms. Chronister also noted another possibility of utilizing Blackboard for this purpose since 

the University already owned the product.   

 

Referencing the changes to standing committees made this past spring and the inclusion of 

term limits for some of them, Ms. Chronister asked the Senate to define when a term limit 

should be imposed.  It was determined that, since the changes were not effective until the 

2016-17 Faculty Handbook, the current term or any fraction thereof counts as the first term 

of the individual when term limits are being reviewed. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

Dr. Darnell reported that Public Safety is conducting a Toys for Tots drive.  President Huss 

reported other toy drives are on-going and a food for kids drive is also underway.  He 

reported that food recovery for the calendar year totaled 19,220.5 pounds.  Dr. V. Carole 

Smith reported socks, mittens, scarves, etc., were being collected in Crabaugh for children 

ages 0 to 10. 

 

President Huss referenced the schedule of Faculty Senate meetings for spring included on 

the agenda. 

 

ADJOURNMENT The meeting adjourned at 3:45 p.m. 

 

 

         Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
 

Sean Huss, Ph.D., President 

 

 
 

James Walton, Ph.D., Secretary 

 

 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 6 

 

Attachment A 

 

 
 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 7 

 

Attachment B 

 

 
 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 8 

 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 9 

 

Attachment C 

 

 
 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 10 

 

Attachment D 

 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 11 

 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 12 

 

 
 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 13 

 

 
 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 14 

 

Attachment E



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 15 

 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 16 

 

 
 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 17 

 

Attachment F



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 18 

 

 

 

 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 19 

 

 
 

  



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 20 

 

Attachment G



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 21 

 



The Faculty Senate – December 7, 2016 22 

 

 


